
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Wednesday, 16 March 2016 at 6.00 pm

Civic Suite, Solihull

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Panel 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, 
A Mackenzie, B Holmes, T Hodgson and 
I Chamberlain

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

Democratic Services
Tel: 0121 704 6050
Email: lstevens@solihull.gov.uk

Date Tuesday, 8 March 2016

CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL - Wednesday, 16 March 2016

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

To receive notification of apologies and substitutions from Members.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive notification of any declarations of pecuniary and/or conflict of interest 
from Members.

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

To answer questions and hear deputations, if any, asked by any resident of the 
Borough pursuant to Standing Orders.

4. MINUTES (Pages 5 - 8)

To receive the minutes of the previous meeting.

5. WEST MIDLANDS POLICE - UPDATE (Pages 9 - 20)

Chief Superintendent Alex Murray to attend. Report to follow.

6. TRAFFIC SPEED MANAGEMENT, EDUCATION AND ENFORCEMENT - 
PROGRESS EVALUATION (Pages 21 - 40)

Following the outcomes of the Highway Services Working Group in 2014/15, to 
consider and evaluate progress made by the Partnership in this priority area. 



Report of the Highways Services Working Group and appendices attached.



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 27 JANUARY 2016

CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL

27 JANUARY 2016

MINUTES 
Present Councillors Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE (Chairman), A Mackenzie, B 

Holmes, and I Chamberlain
Apologies:
Councillor T Hodgson
Officers in attendance: 
Joseph Bright (Solihull MBC, Resources Directorate).
Report authors/witnesses in attendance: 
Gillian Crabbe (Community Safety Manager – Solihull MBC, Managed Growth 
Directorate).
Kobina Hall (Community Rehabilitation Company)
Sherry Studholme (ASB Team Leader – Solihull Community Housing)

1. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest declared by Members of the Panel.

2. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS
There were no questions or deputations.

3. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 21st October were submitted for approval.

 RESOLVED
That the minutes be agreed as a correct record. There were no 
matters arising.

4. REVIEW OF THE MINISTRY OF JUSTICE TRANSFORMING REHABILITATION 
PROGRAMME
In attendance: Kobina Hall, Community Rehabilitation Company
The Head of Coventry and Solihull Community Rehabilitation Company presented the report 
where he detailed how, in 2013, the Government announced the intention to transform 
probation services. He explained the Government’s intention was to attract a wider range of 
expertise in the delivery of probation services, including the private and voluntary sector. It 
was also detailed how, under the previous system, there wasn’t a statutory requirement for 
all offenders to receive support, which was believed to have led to further re-offending. The 
Officer detailed how support for all offenders now started when they were still in custody, and 
further support was also provided when offenders were released and returned to their 
communities. Members were also informed that the provision of probation services was now 
split between the National Probation Service (NPS) and the Community Rehabilitation 
Company (CRC). The Officer explained that the NPS was responsible for court work and 
offenders at the higher end of the risk spectrum. It was also noted that CRC was responsible 
for offenders at the low to middle end of the risk spectrum, with a specific focus upon cases 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 27 JANUARY 2016

of prolific offending. The Officer detailed how the Reducing Reoffending Partnership had 
been announced as the preferred bidder for the Staffordshire and West Midlands CRC. He 
noted the Partnership involved Ingeus, St Giles Trust, Crime Reduction Initiatives and 
Staffordshire and West Midlands CRC and provided background details of these three other 
organisations.
The Head of Coventry and Solihull Community Rehabilitation Company explained CRC was 
looking to introduce a new IT system to enable front line operators to spend more time with 
their clients. He also detailed how they were aiming to invest in new estate, to ensure a built 
environment more conducive to what they wanted to achieve in regards to rehabilitation. It 
was also noted they were going to relocate the existing probation office within the Borough 
and the Officer explained how they had looked at different premises, including potential 
hiring rooms at the Three Trees Community Centre in Chelmsley Wood.
The Head of Coventry and Solihull Community Rehabilitation Company detailed how they 
were currently conducting a consultation with staff regarding a reorganisation, where they 
were looking to reduce the administrative support. He detailed how the intention was to 
move to a Contact Centre service, which should reduce the administrative burden on 
frontline staff, freeing them to be able to provide more support to their clients.
Members highlighted the staff reorganisation and changes in service delivery and queried 
whether there was any risk of loss of experience. The Officer emphasised that the frontline 
probation officers were not a risk. He detailed how, if all the enablers worked, such as the 
Contract Centre Service and IT system, then the service should be sustainable.
Members highlighted the impact upon offenders’ families and queried the support in place for 
them. The Officer detailed how they were looking to work more closely with the Local 
Authority Early Help Team, to ensure effective support. He explained how they were aiming 
to work with Partners in order to ensure earlier interventions, as many of the trends were 
repeated across generations.

RESOLVED
The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel:
(i) Noted the update; and
(ii) Agreed to receive a further update on the transforming rehabilitation 

programme in 12 months’ time.

5. UPDATE ON THE ASB, CRIME AND POLICING ACT 2014
The Community Safety Manager explained the principles of the above Act, which included 
placing more emphasis upon the victim when addressing issues of ASB and crime, as well 
ensuring more effective responses. She also detailed how the intention of the Act was to 
allow incidents to be considered within the local community, as well as ensure quicker 
remedies, without necessarily putting individuals through the criminal justice system.
The ASB Team Leader detailed the work undertaken within the Solihull Community Housing 
(SCH) ASB Team. She explained how the volume of ASB cases was declining due to 
greater partnership working, as well as the earlier interventions allowed under the Act. The 
Team Leader detailed how more complex cases were investigated by the ASB Team and, in 
instances where underlying issues could not be addressed, they had the power to issue 
mandatory grounds for possession of a tenancy. It was also explained that, as the Act 
enabled the ASB Team to intervene earlier and resolve issues within the local community, it 
meant they hadn’t had to resort to using all the powers available.
Members highlighted that the Act required a number of Partners to work together to address 
issues. They emphasised that effective communication and information sharing amongst 
Partners was essential – the ASB Team Leader explained she recognised this and 
confirmed such information sharing was happening. 

Page 6



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 27 JANUARY 2016

RESOLVED
The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel:
(i) Noted the update on the ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014; and 
(ii) Agreed to receive a further update in 12 months’ time.

6. SAFER SOLIHULL PARTNERSHIP
The Community Safety Manager presented the Safer Solihull Performance Scorecard for 
Quarter 3. She explained that a number of monthly indicators had been given Red RAG 
status and explained the underlying reasons for this. Members acknowledged that the 
volume of Red RAG indicators was a concern; however they emphasised that, despite this 
recent trend, Solihull was still the safest location within the West Midlands Area.

RESOLVED
That the Safer Solihull Performance Scorecard for Quarter 3 be 
noted.

7. COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN REPORT
The Community Safety Manager presented the report, detailing how the annual report was 
presented to the Panel and the Safer Solihull Partnership each year, together with the 
revised annual strategic assessment. The Panel noted the progress made over the last 12 
months and also considered the priorities for the coming year.
Members queried the volume of engagement with Neighbourhood Watch programmes. The 
Community Safety Manager detailed how the Partnership would always attempt to work with 
the community to support them to be better equipped to help themselves. She explained 
how the Partnership worked with Neighbourhood Watch schemes and, in many instances, 
they were well established. It was also emphasised that in other areas there needed to be a 
greater focus on other issues, such as business crime, and the Community Safety Manager 
detailed how it was essential to ensure the right scheme for the right location. She also 
highlighted the introduction of Street Associations and how these had been successful in 
other areas.
 RESOLVED

The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel:
(i) Endorsed the recommendations at Section 5 of this report.
(ii) Endorsed the recommendation that, following this review of crime and 

disorder, the current priorities remain for 2016/17.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Crime and Disorder Scrutiny – 16th March 2016

Safer Solihull – interim update on Performance for the Qtr. 4 January to 
March 2016 and year end expectations (report prepared 7th March 2016)

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel with the opportunity to review 

performance for Quarter 4 2015/16 and the year end 2015/16 ahead of a 

substantive report being presented to the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime 

Board in April 2016.  

1.2 Members are asked to be mindful that at the time of writing this report (7th March 

2016) the quarter and year end has not concluded and the information being 

presented may change by the 31st March 2016.

2. Decision(s) Recommended

2.1 To seek the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel views upon the Performance 

outcomes of the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board as presented.

2.2 The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel is asked to support and provide any 

necessary comments to the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board on its 

performance for the fourth quarter and year end of the performance year 2015/16 

and to make recommendations to the Board as appropriate.

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



3. Background

3.1 The Solihull Partnership Local Police and Crime Board focuses on four key 

priorities of: 

 Priority 1: Better protecting people from harm

We will prioritise our work to protect those most vulnerable from harm, focusing on 

those crimes that are often hidden such as domestic violence, child sexual exploitation 

and hate crime. We will work to increase confidence to report crime, supporting victims 

and bring offenders to justice.

 Priority 2: Bringing offenders to justice and tackle re-offending 

We will focus on those offenders who cause harm within their local area and those 

areas that are more susceptible to the traveling offender. We will focus on the links 

between offending and substance misuse, identifying and targeting persistent and high 

risk offenders.

 Priority 3: Supporting stronger communities

We will keep our communities informed about our work and listen to what matters most 

to them. We will test our understanding of the things that you tell are important and 

ensure that we respond. The top 4 for this year are: burglaries, reducing speeding 

traffic and inconsiderate parking, tackling drug and drug dealing and tackling Anti-

Social behaviour.

 Priority 4: Making our neighbourhoods safer places

We will continue to reduce crime ensuring that fewer people become victims. Working 

together to tackle Anti-social behaviour and improve the quality of life of those affected, 

we will focus our partnership work in places to change lives and build stronger 

communities.

Page 10



4. Overview

4.1 In the previous reports we noted that the first half of the year saw total recorded 

crime reducing. However, in October, November and December there were 3156 

reported incidents.  This equated to 242 more victims of crime when compared to 

the quarter July, August and September 2015 and 263 more victims compared to 

the same quarter (Oct, Nov and Dec) in 2014.

4.2
Total Recorded Crime for Solihull

4.3 Total recorded crime (TRC) has increased across the Borough since Autumn 2015 

both month on month and year on year. This should be taken in the context that 

performance year 2014/2015 saw the lowest ever recorded levels of crime in the 

Borough. The drivers for the increase have been business crime in the guise of 

shop theft which has seen 1209 offences recorded an increase of 173 

offences(16.7%); Total vehicle crime is the largest contributor to TRC at 1706 

offences an increase of 95 offences (5.9%).  Our total burglary rate, including sheds 

and shops is down by 170 offences, however burglary of houses is up by 132 

offences compared to last year but lower than 2013/14.  Violent crime recording 

including public place violence has increased by 180 offences to 1124 offences 

(19.1%).  The cause of this increase in recording may be police recording practices, 

an increase in people using the Police or an actual increase in violence.  However 

violent crime in the St Alphege ward has seen a very small increase of 9 offences 

to 135 year to date indicating that the night time economy has a relatively low 

Page 11



impact on overall violence reporting.

4.4 Chelmsley Wood Partnership Plus Area: 

4.5
4.6 Chelmsley wood partnership plus area has seen a reduction of 190 offences to 

1347 offences to end of February. Theft from shops has accounted for 282 crimes 

and there have been 187 assaults recorded, these two offence types account for 

30% of all crime within the area. 

4.7 While burglary dwelling accounts for 5% (80 offences) and has reduced from 110 to 

80 offences (-27.2%). 75 drugs offences have been recorded, in the main 

possession and production of cannabis. SAC crime (house burglary, vehicle crime 

and robbery) has reduced significantly by 79 (-26.8%) offences from 294 to 215 

broken down into each crime type of SAC this means: Robbery has reduced from 

42 to 37 offences (-11.9%), Vehicle crime has reduced from 142 to 98 offences (-

30.9%). We have also seen Violent Crime has increased from 305 to 341 (+11.9%) 

and Criminal damage has reduced from 298 to 259 offences (-13%)

4.8 1Smith’s Wood Partnership Plus area:

1 
Page 12



4.9
4.10 TRC has reduced from 460 to 442 offences (-3.9) in this partnership plus area year 

to date, a reduction of 19 as at the end of February (4.2%). Burglary dwelling 

accounts for 24 reports (6%) and has remained static at 24 offences, there have 

been 60 assaults recorded (14%), damage to vehicles and buildings accounts for 

20% of all reports while drugs offences account for 3% (15 crimes). 

4.11 SAC crime has reduced from 81 to 73 offences (-9.8), Robbery has increased from 

9 to 20 offences (+122.3), Vehicle crime has reduced from 48 to 29 offences (-

39.5%), Violent crime has increased from 106 to 114 offences (+7.6) and Criminal 

damage has reduced from 144 to 105 offences (-27%). ASB incidents have 

reduced by 5 offences 358 – 353.

4.12 In summary, total crime rates remain fairly static on both of these partnership plus 

areas.  The good news is that serious acquisitive crime has reduced in both areas 

but more significantly in Chelmlsey Wood Town Centre (79 offences).   Elmdon is 

the only other ward across the Borough that has reduced serious acquisitive crime.

4.13 Chelmlsey Wood Town Centre has significantly improved and reduced theft 

offences in the town centre.  Reported crime peaked in the summer but following a 

partnership approach including store owners and the local neighbourhood team, 

offending levels were controlled.  

4.14 Burglary is the top priority for the public.  The neighbourhood sergeants 

intentionally focused their attention on this crime type and seized any opportunity to 

Page 13



target and arrest offenders.  Chelmlsey Wood Town Centre has reduced burglary 

by 30 offences; which the partnership sees as a big success story.   

4.15 The illicit possession and supply of drugs remains a priority for the community and 

both teams, but more specifically Chelmlsey Wood Town Centre.  In excess of 25 

drugs warrants have been executed in the last 12 months and in partnership with 

Solihull Community Housing the Police have secured 4 premises closure orders.  

Regular ‘all out’ days with Solihull Community Housing are conducted with a focus 

on seeking new drugs intelligence that can be later enforced.  The quantity and 

quality of intelligence logs have significantly increased.  Thousands of pounds of 

money have also  been seized under the Proceeds of Crime Act.  Officers in both 

areas spend considerable time in our local secondary schools delivering messages 

that are intended to prevent young people from using or supplying drugs.  They are 

also our main source of quality intelligence.

4.16 Business crime recorded in Shirley wards has increased by 5 offences year to date 

at 610 offences (0.8%). Year-end prediction is for the increase to remain stable. 

Business crime in Solihull town centre has increased by 19 offences to 338 

offences recorded (5.9%). year-end prediction is for the increase to remain stable 

or reduce. An operation is in place to target persons involved in purse thefts during 

daytime shopping periods. Chelmsley wood priority area has recorded 1347  

offences a decrease of 190 offences on the previous year this equates to 107 

crimes per 1000 population and decrease of 15 crimes per thousand populations 

per year. Smith’s Wood priority area has recorded 433 offences a reduction of 19 

offences. This equates to 35 crimes per 1000 population and is stable on previous 

year.

4.17 ASB satisfaction has remained consistent over the last period moving between 82-

84%, Solihull currently holds the highest ASB satisfaction rates in the West 

Page 14



Midlands Police Force. Although current levels remain consistent and reasonably 

high there is a trend that shows any negative feedback is largely as a result of a 

lack of updates when incidents and reports are owned by local policing staff. As a 

result work is being undertaken to ensure the officer in charge of each incident is 

providing meaningful and regular updates to victims, equally that following case 

closure victims are fully updated as soon as possible. To accompany this local 

Neighbourhood teams ensure they contact all victims of ASB within three working 

days to ensure enquiries are being adequately managed and victims are happy with 

the service offered. A monthly ASB Case Conference meeting which is attended by 

a range of partners across the borough provides staff with a forum to manage 

difficult or complex cases. This offers partners a forum to resolve cases to the 

satisfaction of victims and to tackle issues which could leave members of the 

community feeling unsupported and dissatisfied.

4.18 There have been 162 'hate' crimes recorded year to date an increase of 11 

offences (7.3%). This measure is taken from all crime types where it is indicated 

that 'hate' may have played a part in the offence. Recording has reduced in 

Meriden constituency and increased in Solihull constituency. 'Hate' includes crimes 

motivated by racist, disability, transphobic, sexual orientation, religious or sectarian 

view. 75% of reports indicated a racist motive, 10.5% sexual orientation, 6.3% 

religious, 4.2% disability and 3.5% transphobia. Monthly reporting is stable and 

year end prediction is for 173 reported crimes which are approximately 7% increase 

on previous year.

4.19 Public confidence in the police is measured by 'Feeling the Difference Survey' and 

shows that 86% of residents in the Borough have confidence in the police. Overall 

satisfaction with the way in which police respond and deal with crime is currently 

81.4%. This remains a priority and a monthly review of action, contact and 

Page 15



feedback is conducted with all line managers. It is acknowledged that feedback to 

victims is the area in which the police can have most influence and which has the 

greatest effect on overall satisfaction. Supervisors are required to conduct monthly 

sampling with victims. The introduction of Victims Code legislation has increased 

the focus and scrutiny on officers’ actions and feedback and has provided a 

framework with which to asses individual and team performance in this area.

4.20 The partnership continues to value the support it gets from its communities and 

following receipt of community intelligence several drugs warrants have been 

successfully executed across the constituency leading to a contribution in disrupting 

local supply which is focussed around key crime areas due to the fact that serious 

acquisitive crime is driven by class A drugs activity.  Additionally, we have 

continuous free flowing information sharing with our key partners and stakeholders 

via Problem Solving Panel meetings.  Intelligence to enforcement action is swift and 

in the main actioned within 24 hours. 

4.21 The partnership continues its work to focus on those most vulnerable and our work 

around supporting victims of domestic abuse.  We note that there has been an 18% 

increase in domestic abuse reported to the police during 2015/16, this could reflect 

an increased confidence for victims to report, but also improved identification and 

recording in the police. 

4.22 Solihull is part of a regional group who are looking to develop a regional perpetrator 

programme funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Domestic 

Abuse Priority Group are currently developing an offender management plan to 

improve how we manage perpetrators across the whole system. 

4.23 In 2015/16 41 families were accommodated in refuge, 89 women supported with 

casework and 161 high risk women supported via the independent Domestic 

Violence Advocacy service. 83 women accessed service for the first time, 108 

Page 16



sessions delivered between July – December 2015. This totals 374 women against 

a predicted prevalence rate of 4800 being offered assistance to live free from harm.

4.24 The information below demonstrates the partnership commitment to deliver best 

practice provision for victims of domestic abuse:

Best Practice Service 
Provision 

Solihull Service Provision 

Service Service Capacity 

Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment conference

√ 175 

Specialist Domestic Violence 
Court

√ Delivered via Birmingham 
Magistrates Court 

Court IDVA √ Funded by the PCC and 
subject to cuts 

Refuge √ 11 units 

Specialist  Support √ IDVA, Floating Support and 
Community Outreach (outreach 
access does not offer 
casework)
Service in Heartlands hospital 

Young Persons IDVA √ I year pilot 

Helpline √ BSWA 

IRIS No No service directly aligned to 
GP’s 

Counselling Support √ BSWA and MIND but capacity 
does not meet demand. 
Healthy Minds but it requires a 
GP referral

Sanctuary Scheme √ Target hardening scheme, 
approx. 20 schemes 

Sexual violence support √ Sexual Assault Referral Centre 
jointly commissioned with 
Birmingham and RSVP 
providing advocacy and 
counselling 

Court mandated perpetrator 
programme

√ Community Rehabilitation 
Centres

Accreditable Community 
Perpetrator programme

No

Support and advocacy for  
children 

√ Barnardos, Early Help and 
Children Social Care. BSWA 
provide support in the refuge 
and some in the community

Multi Agency safe guarding 
hub for children 

√ DA triage which links Early 
Help and MASH and is 

Page 17



responsible for screening 
children at risk

4.25 In conclusion the partnership continues to work with our communities to build their 

capacity to help prevent crime and improve community safety and address local 

issues.  Five Street Associations have been established in the Borough – two in 

Smith’s Wood, two in Chelmsley Wood and two in Shirley. All are planning activities 

for the spring and summer to build community spirit and neighbourliness in their 

streets such as Easter egg hunts, a party to celebrate the Queen’s 90th birthday 

and community trips. Two further Street Associations – in Meriden and Smith’s 

Wood will be started this spring.  The Partnership also appreciates the work 

conducted by the voluntary sector including the large network of neighbourhood 

watch co-ordinators.

5. Areas of further development

5.1 The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel is asked to receive this interim report and 

offer support and challenge to the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board in 

respect of performance and the challenges it faces to work with our communities to 

keep them safe.

6. Evaluation of Alternative Option(s) 

6.1 Not applicable to this report

7. Reasons for Recommending Preferred Option

7.1 Not applicable to this report. The report is presenting a position statement and not 

options for decision.

Page 18



8. Scrutiny

8.1 This report is presented to the crime and disorder scrutiny panel for its 

consideration and comments to be relayed to the Safer Solihull Partnership meeting 

on 31st March 2016. 

9. Implications

9.1 Policy/Strategy Implications 

In the execution of its duties the partnership uses its annual strategic assessment 

to shape policy and strategies with each statutory partner. The Council will consider 

the implications and its contribution to delivery against the priorities. 

9.2 Financial Implications  

Although there are no new financial implications arising from this report, action will 

be taken to ensure future decisions are made in consideration of the Council Vision 

and the planned Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

9.3 Legal implications

The Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board is a statutory partnership of the 

Council, Police, Fire and Probation Services and the Clinical Commissioning Group 

who have a responsibility to work together to tackle crime and disorder including 

Anti-Social Behaviour and substance misuse in the borough of Solihull.

9.4 Statutory Equality Duty

The Partnership has undertaken Fair Treatment Assessments and Equality Impact 

Assessments for its Domestic Abuse Strategy and the Council commissioned 

service for Anti-Social Behaviour. A Fair Treatment Assessment has been 

undertaken in the production of the Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Plan 

2015/16.

Page 19



9.5 Carbon Management/Environmental

There is no impact on carbon management and environmental as a direct result of 

this report.

9.6 Partner Organisations

All of the Partner agencies work collectively towards addressing performance 

around these priorities.

9.7 Safeguarding/Corporate Parenting Implications

The Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Board work closely with the Adult and 

Children & Young Peoples Safeguarding Boards, to ensure that the particular 

needs of our most vulnerable residents and visitors are taken into account in order 

to work proactively to reduce the risk of harm or abuse.

9.8 Customer Impact

Customers and key stakeholders are consulted in the preparation of the 

Partnership’s Annual strategic assessment, setting of Partnership priorities and 

Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Plan. Their views help to shape and inform 

the Partnership response and demonstrate success.

10. List of Appendices Referred to

10.1 None. The partnership final report and scorecard will be prepared at year-end after 

31st March 2016. 

11. Background Papers Used to Compile this Report

11.1 Safer Solihull Local Police and Crime Plan 2015/16. 

Page 20



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to: Transport and Highways Cabinet Portfolio 

Meeting date: 9 July 2015 

Subject/Report Title: Traffic Speed Management – Outcomes & Recommendations 
from the Highway Services Scrutiny Working Group 

Report from: Chairman and Members of the Highway Services Scrutiny Working 
Group 

Report Author/Lead 
Contact Officer: 

Lee Stevenson (Resources Directorate) /Ashley Prior & David 
Lechmere (Managed Growth Directorate) 

Wards affected: 
 All Wards 

 Bickenhill  Blythe 

 Castle Bromwich  Chelmsley Wood 

 Dorridge/Hockley Heath  Elmdon 

 Kingshurst/Fordbridge  Knowle 

 Lyndon  Meriden 

 Olton  Shirley East 

 Shirley South  Shirley West 

 Silhill  Smith's Wood 

 St Alphege 

Public/Private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue of 
Paragraph: 

N/A 

 
 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To present the outcomes and recommendations from the (2014/15) Neighbourhood 
Services Scrutiny Board which commissioned a Working Group to review the 
Council’s Traffic Speed Management Service. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



2. Decision(s) Recommended 

2.1 The Cabinet Member is invited to receive and consider the outcomes and 
recommendations as set out in the report. 

3. Background 

3.1 The Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board agreed in November 2014, that some 
items from its Work Plan would be best considered by a smaller Working Group and 
report back with their findings and recommendations. 

3.2 Subsequently, Traffic Speed Management was identified as a topic to be considered 
by such a Group and it was agreed that their specific scope, in reviewing traffic 
speed management activities and interventions, would be: 

 To consider an appraisal of the Council’s on-going Speed Management Projects; 

 To examine the effectiveness of those that have had positive outcomes in 
protecting the Borough’s most vulnerable. i.e. the elderly and those age groups at 
most at risk of KSI; 

 To review the effectiveness of 20mph Speed Limits and Zones; 

 To review the effectiveness and frequency of speed enforcement; 

 Traffic speed data – to review what type of data we collect and how we use it; 

 To make recommendations to help maintain future service delivery with less 
resources; and 

 To make recommendations as to what future speed management projects should 
be. 

4. Scrutiny Working Group Activity 

4.1 The Group has held four meetings and, for simplicity of reporting, the Group’s lines 
of enquiry, areas of questioning and outcomes are attached to this report: 

5. Appendix A – Scoping Meeting 

5.1 The agreed scope is summarised at para. 3.2 above. 

5.2 Appendix B - Session 1 – Topic Introduction & Service Background 

5.3 As a starting point, the Group considered background information to the main 
headlines of Council’s Traffic Speed Management Service, together with details of 
the current priorities, policies and strategies that have informed the direction of the 
Service over the last few years. 

5.4 The meeting focused on the following particular key issues: 

• Perception of speeding; 

• Localities where speeding was most prevalent; 

• Road safety risk – historical and present day; 

• Casualty rates - Solihull was performing well; 

• Myths and perceptions that roads are more dangerous now than in previous 
decades; 

• Highest road casualty risk age group (late teens/twenties). Average free-flow 
speeds for all vehicle types across each road classification have remained 

Page 22



broadly stable since 2003; 

• Light goods vehicles had the highest average free flow speed across all road 
types in 2013; 

• Perceptions that traffic speeding has increased; 

• Perceptions that traffic speed cameras and other speed enforcement activities 
are generally to catch motorists out and used as a cash generator; 

• The unpopularity of traffic calming; 

• New approaches to focus on changing road user behaviour; and 

• The three most important speed management issues; vulnerable urban road 
users; inappropriate rural speeds; and extreme speeds (ASB). 

6. Appendix C - Session 2 – Traffic Speed Management – Activities and 
Interventions 

6.1 The Group reconvened to consider the current and future activities & interventions 
associated with traffic speed management together with the Polices’ perspective on 
reducing community concerns about speeding. 

6.2 West Midlands Police attended the meeting to provide advice on the measures that 
they were taking to deliver on Section 3b of Solihull’s Local Police and Crime Plan 
for 2014/15 - “Reducing speeding and inconsiderate parking. 

6.3 In terms of those measures aimed at reducing speeding traffic, the Group had 
wished to understand: - 

• The effectiveness and frequency of current speed enforcement activities; 

• What educational initiatives to reduce speeding were the Police involved with; 

• How “Community Speed Watch” worked at the moment and the potential for 
future development;  

• How, from a Police perspective, we could work to develop Partnership working 
that was aimed at reducing community concerns about speeding; and 

• What Police speed management projects were being developed for the future? 

7. Appendix D - Session 3 – Site Visits & Conclusions 

7.1 In this session, the Group undertook a number of site visits to several locations 
around the Borough to view a variety of speed management interventions. 

7.2 The Groups conclusions are summarised at para. 8.2 below. 

8. Provisional Recommendations 

8.1 The following provisional recommendations are presented for the Boards 
consideration: 

(i) To commend the Council’s Highway Services Division/Safer Solihull 
Partnership for its continued work towards traffic speed management and road 
safety activities/interventions in Solihull. 

(ii) To acknowledge that Solihull is performing well in maintaining a reduction in 
road traffic casualties (killed and seriously injured).  

(iii) To request that the Council’s Highway Services Division/Safer Solihull 
Partnership keep under continued review, its strategic focus towards those 
age groups and categories of road user that are most likely to become road 

Page 23



traffic casualties. 

(iv) To acknowledge the high value of educational initiatives and strong 
communication /publicity which raises awareness of traffic speed 
management and road safety to encourage behavioural changes amongst 
road users. 

(v) The Council’s Highway Services Division, working with the Communications 
Division should review the methods, frequency and effectiveness of publicity 
to raise awareness (and the success of) initiatives to make Solihull’s roads 
safer. This review should also include publicity relating to activities that are 
directly commissioned by the Safer Solihull Partnership.  

(vi) To acknowledge that the public perception of speeding traffic in local 
communities is not always supported by clear evidence of excessive speeds 
upon investigation. Nevertheless, public perception still remains that traffic 
speeds are too high for their own communities.  

(vii) The West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner be invited to consider the 
feasibility of establishing a regional Focus Group on Traffic Speed 
Management. The purpose of such a group would be to consider the 
challenges that local authorities face to address the public perception of high 
traffic speeds. Such a group might also be used to evaluate: - 

(a) The demographic groups that are most concerned about speed. 

(b) The type of roads where the speed of traffic causes most concern. 

(c) What kind of interventions the community would like to see more of to 
address their concerns about the speed of traffic. 

(d) The effectiveness of the publicity used to strengthen public awareness 
of the various types of traffic speed management practices currently 
used across Solihull and the West Midlands region. 

(viii) West Midlands Police (Solihull LPU)/Safer Solihull Partnership be required to 
notify the Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board at regular intervals during 
2015/16 as to the activities and outcomes of the Solihull Local Policing Unit 
Road Safety Drive for 2015/16 and other dedicated seasonal Partnership road 
safety operations. 

(ix) To acknowledge the engineering solutions for traffic speed management used 
in Solihull to-date and the positive contributions that those measures have 
made to road safety. However, the Group agrees that new, modern and 
alternative approaches to traffic speed management should be explored from 
hereon in and introduced whenever feasible to do so.  

(x) To welcome the new attitudes to street design as set out in the advice and 
good practice guide “Street Design for All”. Whilst acknowledging that the 
feasibility of each location must be assessed on its own  merits, the Group 
particularly supports street design that includes shared space, de-cluttering 
and high quality public realm as a forward thinking approach to future traffic 
speed management, highway design and place making.  

(xi) The Council should seek to maximise all opportunities to deliver high quality 
public realm in new future developments and major projects to support 
modern approaches to traffic speed management and road safety. The 
Council should review its existing local planning guidance notes (LPG’s) and 
approaches to pre-planning application advice to applicants/developers to 
ensure that practices in place are sufficiently robust enough to support this 
intention. 

Page 24



(xii) Post-scheme completion reviews for the Hurst Lane Place and Solihull 
Gateway schemes should be notified to the Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny 
Board to enable to Board to consider if elements of either scheme require a 
further review to inform considerations on future similar major projects. The 
Group acknowledges the value of a “lessons learnt” approach to scheme 
evaluation to help inform and improve the delivery of future projects. 

(xiii) To acknowledge the value of Community Speed Watch and the future 
challenges that the initiative faces in terms of future resourcing and 
sustainability. The Council’s Highway Services Division/Safer Solihull 
Partnership should consider what opportunities exist to ensure that 
Community Speed Watch can be maintained. Such opportunities might 
include shared resources between individual community groups; explore any 
potential for resourcing opportunities from funding that the West Midlands 
Police and Crime Commissioner provide to the Safer Solihull Partnership; and 
the provision of an initial “on-loan” start-up kit and equipment to new 
community groups who have expressed an interest to participate. 

(xiv) To acknowledge that there are two trial 20mph speed limits operating in the 
Borough with a third due to be implemented when resources become 
available. The Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board should consider a 
review of the effectiveness of those new speed limits in 2016/17 (or no sooner 
than 12 months post implementation of the third speed limit) to evaluate their 
effectiveness. Such a review should also take account of the findings of the 
on-going DfT research into the effectiveness of 20mph speed limits as 
opposed to 20mph zones. 

9. Officer’s Response(s) 

9.1 Officers found the Working Group provided a very helpful insight into Members’ 
views on vehicle speed management and appreciate the work of the group in 
considering future service delivery. 

9.2 During the Working Group sessions, officers presented a significant amount of 
information to help members understand the way that different elements of the 
service are delivered and their effectiveness, together with an indication of the level 
of demand. 

9.3 The information, which covered current speed management interventions and the 
options for developing the service in the future, took account of the 
recommendations relating to the Re-shaping of Highway Services that 
Neighbourhood Services Board agreed at its meeting of 9 September 2014.  

9.4 Benchmarking revealed that Solihull’s performance is better than most other Local 
Authorities in terms of road traffic casualty rates and we need to ensure that we 
maintain that high level of performance. 

9.5 Looking forward we need to ensure that we continue to develop the targeted 
approach of recent years, utilising demand management techniques to ensure that 
the service is both effective and delivers value. 

10. Reasons for Recommending Preferred Option(s) 

10.1 The recommendations arising from the review have enabled options to be explored 
which begin to shape what future speed management projects might look like and to 
help maintain future service delivery with fewer available resources. 

Page 25



11. Scrutiny 

11.1 This report directly explains the involvement of the Council’s Scrutiny function in this 
matter. 

12. Implications 

12.1 Delivery of the Council’s Priorities 

The options/proposals in this report will contribute to the delivery of the following 
Council Priority(ies):  

  Improve Health and Wellbeing 

  Managed Growth 

  Build Stronger Communities  

  Deliver Value  

12.2 Policy/Strategy Implications 

(a) The recommendations from the review into Traffic Speed Management will be 
used to assist in the development of the new Road Safety Strategy for Solihull 
(2017-2021). 

(b) The recommendations from the review into Traffic Speed Management are 
compatible with the proposals for the Re-shaping of Highway Services that 
Neighbourhood Services Board agreed at its meeting of 9 September 2014  

12.3 Meeting the duty to involve 

One of the recommendations is to invite the West Midlands Police and Crime 
Commissioner to consider the feasibility of establishing a regional Focus Group on 
Traffic Speed Management. 

12.4 Financial Implications 

The Board’s recommendations can be accommodated within the Highway Services’ 
budget as published in the 2014/15 Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

12.5 Legal implications 

None identified at this stage. 

12.6 Risk Implications 

(a) The Corporate Risk Management Approach has been complied with to 
identify and assess the significant risks associated with this decision / project. 
This includes (but is not limited to any political, legislation and reputation risks. 

(b) The approach is not intended to eliminate all risks and not all the risks 
identified can be managed all of the time. However, based on the information 
provided, it is the officers' opinion that the significant risks have been 
identified, assessed and arrangements are in place to manage them 
effectively. 

(c) This assessment identified that there are no net "red" risks that need to be 
reported. 

12.7 Statutory Equality Duty 

None identified at this stage. 

12.8 Carbon Management/Environmental 

Page 26



None identified at this stage. 

12.9 Partner Organisations 

The Safer Solihull Partnership. 

12.10 Safeguarding/Corporate Parenting Implications 

None identified at this stage. 

12.11 Customer Impact 

The recommendations are aimed at addressing public concern about speeding traffic 
in local communities. 

12.12 Other implications 

None identified at this stage. 

13. List of Appendices Referred to 

13.1 Appendix A – Scoping Meeting. 

13.2 Appendix B Session 1 – Topic Introduction & Service Background. 

13.3 Appendix C Session 2 – Traffic Speed Management – Activities and Interventions.  

13.4 Appendix D Session 3 – Site Visits & Conclusions.   

14. Background Papers Used to Compile this Report 

14.1 Reports and supporting information to: 

 Highway Services Scrutiny Working Group – 18 December 2014, 29 January 2015, 
24 February 2015 and 25 March 2015. 

15. List of Relevant Review Documents 

15.1 Solihull’s Local Policing and Crime Plan 2014/15. 

15.2 A Road Safety Strategy for Solihull (2012-2016) 2013-2014 edition. 

15.3 Report to Cabinet Member for Transport and Highways (July 2013) – Road Safety in 
Solihull. 

15.4 Road Safety Strategy - Updated Appendix B (January 2015). 

15.5 Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board Briefing Note (September 2010) – 20mph 
Speed Limit Policy. 

15.6 Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board Report (November 2010) – Policy on 
20mph Speed Limit Policy.  

15.7 Report to Cabinet Member for Transport, Highways and Infrastructure (March 2009) 
– Speed Limit Review. 

15.8 Report to Cabinet Member for Transport and Highways (September 2010) – Speed 
Limit Review of ‘C’ Classified and Unclassified (Local) Roads. 

15.9 Report to Cabinet Member for Transport and Highways (April 2014) – Safety 
Cameras - Proposal for a Digital Camera Pilot Scheme. 

15.10 Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board Report (June 2009) – Speed Aware 
formerly “Inconsiderate Speeding Initiative”. 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 18 DECEMBER 2014

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 18 12 2014 Minutes 

HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) 

18 DECEMBER 2014 

(Scoping Meeting) 

MINUTES  

Present:  Councillor K Hawkins, I Chamberlain, T Hodgson and M Parker. 

Apologies:  

Councillor M Bassett. 

Ashley Prior (Head of Highway Services). 

David Lechmere (Highway Services – Principal Engineer). 

Officers in attendance:  

Lee Stevenson (Governance Directorate - Democratic Services and Scrutiny). 

Paul Tovey (Highways Services – Principal Engineer). 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN 

RESOLVED 

(i) That Cllr K Hawkins be elected Chairman; and 

(ii) That Cllr M Parker be appointed Vice-Chairman. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest or conflict of interest declared by Members. 

3. TOPIC SELECTION AND SCOPING 

Following the recent appointment of the Group, Members were invited to agree the scope 
and timescales for the work to be undertaken. In summary, the topics that had been referred 
to the Group by the Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board had been: 

 Review of the School Crossing Patrol Service. 

 Road Safety/ School Gate/ Inconsiderate Parking. 

Following an introduction by Officers, it was agreed that the Group’s immediate work would 
focus on Road Safety Performance and Priorities (Traffic Speeds) and Safe and Active 
Travel. The topic of School Crossing Patrol Policy and Criteria, including a review of School 
Gate Parking would be considered by the main Board (NSSB) at the first meeting of the 
2015/16 Municipal Year (9 June 2015). 

RESOLVED 

(i) That the Highway Services Scrutiny Working Group 
have an immediate focus on Road Safety (Traffic Speed 
Management) and review the following: 

 To consider an appraisal of the Council’s ongoing 
Speed Management Projects; 

 To examine the effectiveness of those that have 
had positive outcomes in protecting the Borough’s 

Page 29



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 18 DECEMBER 2014

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 18 12 2014 Minutes 

most vulnerable. i.e. the elderly and those age 
groups at most at risk of KSI; 

 To review the effectiveness of 20mph Speed Limits 
and Zones; 

 To review the effectiveness and frequency of speed 
enforcement; 

 Traffic speed data – to review what type of data we 
collect and how we use it; 

 To make recommendations to help maintain future 
service delivery with less resources; and 

 To make recommendations as to what future speed 
management projects should be. 

(ii) That the Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board, at the 
first meeting of the 2015/16 Municipal Year (9 June 2015), 
review the School Crossing Patrol Service – Review of 
Policy and Criteria (including a review of measures to 
deter school gate and inconsiderate school parking): 

 To consider a site appraisal of the current School 
Crossing Patrols; 

 To seek comparisons with service provision and 
resources at other comparable local authorities;  

 To consider the effectiveness of measures aimed at 
deterring inconsiderate parking, particularly focusing 
on school gate parking; 

 To make recommendations as to the future 
application of policy and criteria; and 

 To make recommendations to help maintain future 
service delivery with less resources. 

4. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

RESOLVED 

The next meeting of the Group would be held on 21st January 
2015 at 6pm, Civic Suite. [post meeting note – subsequently 
rearranged to 29th January 2015 at 6pm, Civic Suite]. 

 

 

Page 30



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 29 JANUARY 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 29 01 2015 Minutes 

HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) 

29 JANUARY 2015 

(Session 1 – Topic Introduction and Background Information) 

MINUTES  

Present:  Councillor K Hawkins (Chairman). Councillors M Bassett, T Hodgson 
and M Parker. 

Apologies:  

Councillor I Chamberlain. 

Officers in attendance:  

Ashley Prior (Head of Highway Services). 

David Lechmere (Highway Services – Principal Engineer). 

Lee Stevenson (Governance Directorate - Democratic Services and Scrutiny). 

1. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 18 December 2014, was submitted. 

RESOLVED 

That the Minutes be agreed. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest or conflict of interest declared by Members. 

3. PRESENTATIONS, BRIEFING NOTE AND BACKGROUND PAPERS – TRAFFIC SPEED 
MANAGEMENT – INTRODUCTION TO SERVICE BACKGROUND & PRIORITIES 

Further to the scope agreed at the previous meeting, Members received copies of relevant 
background information for the Council’ Traffic Speed Management Service which covered 
current priorities together with the key policies and strategies that had informed the direction 
of the Service over the last few years. This included: 

1. Solihull’s Local Policing and Crime Plan 2014/15 – Supporting Stronger 
Communities. 

2. Road Safety Strategy for Solihull (2012-2016) – 2013/14 edition. 
3. Transport and Highways Cabinet Decision – Road Safety in Solihull – July 2013. 
4. Road Safety Strategy – Priorities – January 2015. 
5. Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board – 20mph Speed Limit Policy – September 

and November 2010. 
6. Transport and Highways Cabinet Decision – Speed Limit Review – March 2009. 
7. Transport and Highways Cabinet Decision – Speed Limit Review of ‘C’ Classified and 

Unclassified Local Roads – September 2010. 
8. Transport and Highways Cabinet Decision – Proposal for a Digital Camera Pilot 

Scheme – April 2014. 
9. Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board – Inconsiderate Speeding Initiative – June 

2009. 

Page 31



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 29 JANUARY 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 29 01 2015 Minutes 

Members also received a PowerPoint presentation that covered the main headlines of the 
Service. This meeting focused on the following particular key issues: 

1. Perception of speeding. 
2. Localities where speeding was most prevalent. 
3. Road safety risk – historical and present day. 
4. Casualty rates - Solihull was performing well. 
5. Myths and perceptions that roads are more dangerous now than in previous 

decades. 
6. Highest road casualty risk age group (late teens/twenties). Average free-flow speeds 

for all vehicle types across each road classification have remained broadly stable 
since 2003. 

7. Light goods vehicles had the highest average free flow speed across all road types in 
2013. 

8. Perceptions that traffic speeding has increased. 
9. Perceptions that traffic speed cameras and other speed enforcement activities are 

generally to catch motorists out and used as a cash generator. 
10. The unpopularity of traffic calming. 
11. New approaches to focus on changing road user behaviour. 
12. The three most important speed management issues; vulnerable urban road users; 

inappropriate rural speeds; and extreme speeds (ASB). 

RESOLVED 

That: 

(i) The focus of the next meetings be based on a more 
detailed examination of the following areas of the Service: 

 Traffic calming measures and other 
engineering solutions. 

 Current funding and future funding 
opportunities (including Police and Crime 
Commissioner funding and major projects). 

 Fixed and mobile safety cameras. 
 Hand held speed enforcement on local roads. 
 Speed aware campaigns. 
 Permanent vehicle activated signs. 
 Community initiatives and community speed 

watch. 
 20mph speed limits and zones. 
 Review of speed limits in excess of 30mph. 
 Education towards driver behaviour. 
 Communication and publicity. 

(ii) West Midlands Police be invited to the next meeting to 
advise on the effectiveness and frequency of their speed 
enforcement activities; 

(iii) Officers identify and provide any additional published 
material that will assist the Group in formulating 
recommendations as to what future speed management 
projects might be; 

(iv) (iii) above be complimented with site visits; and 

Page 32



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 29 JANUARY 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 29 01 2015 Minutes 

(v) Officers produce a graphical representation to indicate the 
relationship between road traffic casualty age and 
proportion of population. 

4. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

RESOLVED 

The next meeting of the Group would be held in the week 
beginning 23 February 2015 for Session 2 and potential site visits. 

[Post meeting note – date of next meeting is Tuesday 24 February 
2015 at 2pm. Site visits to be included with Session 3]. 

 

 

Page 33



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 24 FEBRUARY 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 24 02 2015 Minutes 

HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) 

24 FEBRUARY 2015 

(Session 2 – Traffic Speed Management – Activities and Interventions) 

MINUTES  

Present:  Councillor K Hawkins (Chairman). Councillors I Chamberlain, M 
Bassett and T Hodgson. 

Apologies:  

Councillor M Parker. 

Officers in attendance:  

Ashley Prior (Head of Highway Services). 

David Lechmere (Highway Services – Principal Engineer). 

Lee Stevenson (Governance Directorate - Democratic Services and Scrutiny). 

External Witnesses in attendance: 

Inspector Stephen Malone (Partnership Lead - West Midlands Police). 

WPC Sharon Grant (Neighbourhood Police Team – West Midlands Police). 

1. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2015, was submitted. 

RESOLVED 

That the Minutes be agreed. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest or conflict of interest declared by Members. 

3. PRESENTATIONS, BRIEFING NOTE AND BACKGROUND PAPERS – TRAFFIC SPEED 
MANAGEMENT (ACTIVITIES AND INTERVENTIONS) 

The Group reconvened to consider the current and future activities & interventions 
associated with traffic speed management together with the Polices’ perspective on reducing 
community concerns about speeding. 

Inspector Stephen Malone and WPC Sharon Grant from West Midlands Police (WMP) 
attended the meeting to provide advice on the measures that the Police were taking to 
deliver on Section 3b of Solihull’s Local Police and Crime Plan for 2014/15 - “Reducing 
speeding and inconsiderate parking. This stated that the Police would conduct regular 
enforcement and education initiatives, working with Partners and local people in areas where 
this is a concern.” 

In terms of those measures aimed at reducing speeding traffic, the Group had wished to 
understand: - 

1. The effectiveness and frequency of current speed enforcement activities; 
2. What educational initiatives to reduce speeding were the Police involved with; 
3. How “Community Speed Watch” worked at the moment and the potential for future 

development;  

Page 34



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 24 FEBRUARY 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 24 02 2015 Minutes 

4. How, from a Police perspective, we could work to develop Partnership working that 
was aimed at reducing community concerns about speeding; and 

5. What Police speed management projects were being developed for the future. 

Having received a PowerPoint presentation, the following key facts were evident from this 
meeting (contributions from SMBC Officers and WMP): 

1. All roads with speed limits above 30mph had been reviewed and changes 
implemented. Pre and post review information was circulated and WMP stated that 
there had been good feedback from several areas of Solihull, particularly Hampton in 
Arden and Balsall Common. The reductions in speed from 60mph to 40mph in rural 
locations were particularly welcomed. 

2. In Solihull, we had introduced 20mph speed limits in 2 residential areas and those 
schemes were currently being evaluated. Many requests for 20mph speed limits were 
also now being made to WMP, particularly in Community Speed Watch areas. A 
Member commented that signage for the new 20mph limits needed to be clear and 
local communications plans in place to raise awareness, particularly for part time 
speed limits around schools. WMP added that they had received feedback that part 
time speed limits were confusing for motorists. The Panel noted that signage 
regulations were set out by the DfT although the local authority could assist with 
added publicity. It was also noted that the Police were also unlikely to divert 
resources to enforce 20mph speed limits as those limits were supposed to be self-
enforcing. Significantly, there was also an evidence gap on the effectiveness of 
20mph speed limits and the DfT had commissioned research to investigate. Early 
indications from Solihull’s experience were that “20mph zones” were more effective 
than basic 20mph speed limits; 

3. Vertical traffic calming (road humps etc.) were effective in reducing speeds but often 
unpopular with residents due to noise & vibration. Schemes were introduced on an 
area by area basis and the emergency services views were sought, amongst other 
statutory consultees, as part of normal due process. The Panel noted that 
opportunities existed at the “new housing development planning stage” to design-in 
traffic speed management features as part of new road layout. This was perceived as 
being a more preferred approach than retro-fitting some years afterwards; 

4. Speed camera enforcement activity was “mobile based” at the moment; 
5. Quotes were being obtained for a new system of digital speed cameras in fixed 

housings for use in Solihull & Birmingham; 
6. The Council provided three hand held “Pro-Laser” speed enforcement units for the 

Police to support our Partnership work in reducing speeding;  
7. SpeedVisors (small temporary electronic warning signs) alerting drivers to the speed 

limit had a small effect on driver speeds but were generally welcomed by local 
communities. The Panel noted that this initiative would be subject to a £20k budget 
reduction from 2015/16; 

8. Permanent Vehicle Activated Signs seemed to be most effective when used to 
provide warning at proven collision locations (e.g. bends, junctions, etc.); 

9. Community Speed Watch groups were co-ordinated by the Police and run primarily 
by groups of residents within the local community. Several examples of ongoing, 
successful schemes were submitted. WMP added that the initiative was of great 
value to local communities. However, this came with a health warning that CSW 
could only be successful if there was a “willingness” within communities to 
participate, not just a “need” to participate. It was further noted that the admin 
process for establishing and running schemes was being streamlined in an attempt to 
ensure its future sustainability and resilience; and 

Page 35



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 24 FEBRUARY 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 24 02 2015 Minutes 

10. There were no specific speed related road safety campaigns but the topic was 
covered indirectly in a number of other campaigns. 

Inspector Stephen Malone summarised the anticipated activities for the coming year which 
would focus on reducing community concern around parking and speeding (LPU Road 
Safety Drive for 2015/dedicated seasonal Partnership operations etc): 

1. Continuation of Community Speed Watch/Pro Laser; 
2. Officers targeting offences such as seatbelts and/or un-roadworthy cars which will 

then be directed to an area in which the fire brigade/ambulance service/police officers 
etc would process or educate them; 

3. Officers to exercise proportionate judgment based on the offence and individual 
circumstances. Partners to take care of the education side with verbal and tangible 
information and demonstrations; 

4. System of education for parking hotspots, potentially led by PCSO’s and supported 
by social media campaigns to encourage local reporting; 

5. Engineering solutions and proactive driver education, to stop offences happening in 
the first place, were WMP’s preferred approach to traffic speed management; 

6. Partnership approach to engage with offenders at the roadside that will run alongside 
speed, parking and safety operations (enforcement); 

7. Close monitoring of the number of drivers dealt with (formally/informally) regarding 
dangerous driving, inconsiderate driving, speeding and using phone to help divert 
resources to known hot-spots; 

8. Police and Crime Commissioner placed greater emphasis on road traffic matters 
based on “community feedback” – efforts (and measured success) may affect future 
road safety funding. WMP measured success on public perception now – e.g. traffic 
speeds in some local areas may be marginally higher that the speed limit, although 
public perception may indicate that traffic speeds are acceptable. Whilst in other 
areas, traffic speeds may actually be lower than the speed limit but due to the nature 
of the road and volume of traffic, public perception may indicate that traffic speeds 
are too high; 

9. Residents’ views would be sought on what measures they felt were effective and 
ineffective before testing feedback. There was also a willingness to involve local 
schools and businesses in both funding and participation; and 

10. Ideas around further community involvement to include asking local school children 
(in parental company) to hand out speed reduction literature, preferably designed by 
them with a message around speed/safety and parking. 

RESOLVED 

(i) That the information presented on Traffic Speed 
Management – Activities and Interventions be received; 
and 

(ii) That the Working Group undertake site visits before 
formulating recommendations as to what future speed 
management projects might be. 

4. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

RESOLVED 

The next meeting of the Group would be held in the weeks either 
before or after the Easter fortnight and would take the form of an 
afternoon site visit, followed by a meeting of the Working Group to 
begin to formulate recommendations. 

Page 36



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 25 MARCH 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 25 03 2015 Minutes 

HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) 

25 MARCH 2015 

(Session 3 – Site Visits and Provisional Recommendations) 

MINUTES  

Site Visits: 

Present:  Councillor K Hawkins (Chairman). Councillors I Chamberlain, M 
Bassett and T Hodgson. 

Apologies:  

Councillor M Parker. 

Officers in attendance:  

David Lechmere (Highway Services – Principal Engineer). 

Lee Stevenson (Governance Directorate - Democratic Services and Scrutiny). 

Witnesses in attendance: 

Annie Masters (Neighbourhood Coordinator) 

Liz Quiney (Neighbourhood Coordinator) 

Working Group Meeting: 

Present:  Councillor K Hawkins (Chairman). Councillors M Bassett, T Hodgson 
and M Parker. 

Apologies:  

Councillor I Chamberlain. 

Officers in attendance:  

Ashley Prior (Head of Highway Services). 

David Lechmere (Highway Services – Principal Engineer). 

Lee Stevenson (Governance Directorate - Democratic Services and Scrutiny). 

1. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 24 February 2015, was submitted. 

RESOLVED 

That the Minutes be agreed. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest or conflict of interest declared by Members. 

3. SITE VISITS AND PROVISIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS – TRAFFIC SPEED 
MANAGEMENT (ACTIVITIES AND INTERVENTIONS) 

Site Visits 

The Group reconvened to undertake site visits to the following locations within the Borough: 

Page 37



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 25 MARCH 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 25 03 2015 Minutes 

 Broad Oaks Road, Solihull – long residential road with hatched road markings to give 
perception of narrow road widths to deter speeding. Regular mobile speed camera 
enforcement location. Known location for vehicle speeds consistently in excess of 
speed limit. 

 Barn Lane, Solihull – demonstration of community SpeedWatch in residential area 
with 30mph speed limit. 10% of traffic were travelling in excess of 35mph during the 
period observed. 

 Bickenhill Road, Marston Green – examples shown of retro-fit vertical and horizontal 
traffic calming which had mixed effectiveness, dependant on its individual location. 

 Station Road and Moorend Avenue, Marston Green – examples shown of speed 
cushions constructed in different materials and designs. 

 A452 Collector Road, Castle Bromwich – example of major road network with fixed 
and mobile speed camera sites together with coloured tarmac used to highlight and 
protect junctions. 

 Green Lane, Castle Bromwich – location with several examples of vertical and 
horizontal traffic calming measures and a high casualty rate history. 

 Smith’s Wood Centre – examples of a newly constructed village centre design and 
the application of “shared space”. 

 Hazelhurst Road, Smith’s Wood – residential areas prone to “rat running”. 

 Hurst Lane Place – major highway improvement scheme detailing various urban 
traffic and pedestrian treatments. 

Provisional Recommendations and Outcomes 

The following recommendations be presented to Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board on 
9th June 2015: 

1. To commend the Council’s Highway Services Division/Safer Solihull Partnership for 
its continued work towards traffic speed management and road safety 
activities/interventions in Solihull. 

2. To acknowledge that Solihull is performing well in maintaining a reduction in all 
categories of road traffic casualties (killed and seriously injured).  

3. To request that the Council’s Highway Services Division/Safer Solihull Partnership 
keep under continued review, its strategic focus towards those age groups and 
categories of road user that are most likely to become road traffic casualties. 

4. To acknowledge the high value of educational initiatives and strong communication 
/publicity which raises awareness of traffic speed management and road safety to 
encourage behavioural changes amongst road users. 

5. The Council’s Highway Services Division, working with the Communications Division 
should review the methods, frequency and effectiveness of publicity to raise 
awareness (and the success of) initiatives to make Solihull’s roads safer. This review 
should also include publicity relating to activities that are directly commissioned by 
the Safer Solihull Partnership.  

6. To acknowledge that the public perception of speeding traffic in local communities is 
not always supported by clear evidence of excessive speeds upon investigation. 
Nevertheless, public perception still remains that traffic speeds are too high for their 
own communities.  

7. The West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner be invited to consider the 
feasibility of establishing a regional Focus Group on Traffic Speed Management. The 

Page 38



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 25 MARCH 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 25 03 2015 Minutes 

purpose of such a group would be to consider the challenges that local authorities 
face to address the public perception of high traffic speeds. Such a group might also 
be used to evaluate: - 

a. The demographic groups that are most concerned about speed. 

b. The type of roads where the speed of traffic causes most concern. 

c. What kind of interventions the community would like to see more of to address 
their concerns about the speed of traffic. 

d. The effectiveness of the publicity used to strengthen public awareness of the 
various types of traffic speed management practices currently used across 
Solihull and the West Midlands region. 

8. West Midlands Police (Solihull LPU)/Safer Solihull Partnership be required to notify 
the Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board at regular intervals during 2015/16 as to 
the activities and outcomes of the Solihull Local Policing Unit Road Safety Drive for 
2015/16 and other dedicated seasonal Partnership road safety operations. 

9. To acknowledge the engineering solutions for traffic speed management used in 
Solihull to-date and the positive contributions that those measures have made to road 
safety. However, the Group agrees that new, modern and alternative approaches to 
traffic speed management should be explored from hereon in and introduced 
whenever feasible to do so.  

10. To welcome the new attitudes to street design as set out in the advice and good 
practice guide “Street Design for All”. Whilst acknowledging that the feasibility of each 
location must be assessed on its own individual merits, the Group particularly 
supports street design that includes shared space, de-cluttering and high quality 
public realm as a forward thinking approach to future traffic speed management, 
highway design and place making.  

11. The Council should seek to maximise all opportunities to deliver high quality public 
realm in new future developments and major projects to support modern approaches 
to traffic speed management and road safety. The Council should review its existing 
local planning guidance notes (LPG’s) and approaches to pre-planning application 
advice to applicants/developers to ensure that practices in place are sufficiently 
robust enough to support this intention. 

12. Post-scheme completion reviews for the Hurst Lane Place and Solihull Gateway 
schemes should be notified to the Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board to enable 
to Board to consider if elements of either scheme require a further review to inform 
considerations on future similar major projects. The Group acknowledges the value of 
a “lessons learnt” approach to scheme evaluation to help inform and improve the 
delivery of future projects. 

13. To acknowledge the value of Community Speed Watch and the future challenges that 
the initiative faces in terms of future resourcing and sustainability. The Council’s 
Highway Services Division/Safer Solihull Partnership should consider what 
opportunities exist to ensure that Community Speed Watch can be maintained. Such 
opportunities might include shared resources between individual community groups; 
explore any potential for resourcing opportunities from funding that the West 
Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner provide to the Safer Solihull Partnership; 
and the provision of an initial “on-loan” start-up kit and equipment to new community 
groups who have expressed an interest to participate. 

14. To acknowledge that Solihull has two trial 20mph speed limits operating in the 
Borough with a third due to be implemented when resources become available. The 
Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board should consider a review of the 

Page 39



HIGHWAY SERVICES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP (ROAD SAFETY) – 25 MARCH 2015

 

Highway Services SWG Road Safety 25 03 2015 Minutes 

effectiveness of those new speed limits in 2016/17 (or no sooner than 12 months 
post implementation of the third speed limit) to evaluate their effectiveness. Such a 
review should also take account of the findings of the on-going DfT research into the 
effectiveness of 20mph speed limits as opposed to 20mph zones. 

 

RESOLVED 

That the recommendations set out above be presented to 
Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny Board on 9th June 2015 for their 
consideration and endorsement. 

Page 40


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 West Midlands Police - Update
	6 Traffic Speed Management, Education and Enforcement - Progress Evaluation
	Appendices
	Highway Services SWG Road Safety 18 12 2014 Minutes
	Highway Services SWG Road Safety 29 01 2015 Minutes
	Highway Services SWG Road Safety 24 02 2015 Minutes
	Highway Services SWG Road Safety 25 03 2015 Minutes



